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o SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR

i
ROBERT J. COSTA &P
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR

FROM.: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFE)DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJ EC'I;: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2002 12 DAY PRE-
GENERAL AND 30 DAY POST-GENERAL REPORTS

Attached are the names of the political committees and their treasurers against
which the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil
money penalties calculated at the RTB stage for failure to file or failure to timely file the
2002 12 Day Pre-General and/or 30 Day Post-General Reports. The first group pertains
to the 12 Day Pre-General Report and the second group pertains to the 30 Day Post-

General Report. Each group lists committees that have either paid the civil money .

penalty or have failed to pay the civil money penalty. The comrmittees that have not paid
have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the RTB notification to remit

payment. RS

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
serd a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money penalty.



Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the polincal committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

Indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.



2002 12 DAY PRE-GENERAL REPORT
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2002 30 DAY POST-GENERAL REPORT
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DATE & TIME

[ by

& ) "

ON COMMISSION
eonngon 6. 205 SENSITIVE

OF TRANSMITTAL: Friday, July 18, 2003 _12:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Wednesday, July 23 2003 4:00

COMMISSION

SUBJECT:

{)

()

()

A definite vote

ER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB
Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For 2002 12 Day Pre-General and 30 Day Post-General Reports.

Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director, Reports Analysis
Division dated Juiy 17, 2003.

| approve the recommendation{s)
{ object to the recommendation(s)

| approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

| approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

{ approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (piease insert AF#)

| am not voting on this tally.

is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return

ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secratary. Please return baliot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE:

SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Final Determination Recommendation For
The 2002 12 Day Pre-General and 30 Day
Post-General Reports.

COUNTRYWIDE CREDIT INDUSTRIES INC PAC
(COUNTRYWIDE PAC), and Sidney Lenz as
treasurer;

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF PHYSICIAN
SPECIALIST INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and STEPHEN A MONTES as
treasurer;

AMERICAN CENTURY CO INC POLITICAL
ACTION CMTE (AXKA AMERICAN CENTURY
INVESTMENTS PAC), and WILLIAM B BATES
as treasurer;

AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CATARACT &
REFRACTIVE SURGERY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (AKA EYEPAC) , and BERNARD J
DELLARIO as treasurer;

AMERICAN SPEECH-LANGUAGE-HEARING
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and FREDERICK T SPAHR as
treasurer;

AF# 839

AF# 842

AF# 843

AF# B45

AF# 846
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CABLEVISION SYSTEMS CORPORATION AF# B48
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SHEILA
MAHONY as treasurer:

CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE(CBC-PAC), and Arthur
R. Collins as treasurer;

DAVITA PAC, and Udicious, Steven as
treasurer;

DEWEY BALLANTINE LLP POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and Dowley, Joseph Mr. as
treasurer;

FLORIDA SUGAR CANE LEAGUE PAC, and
Yancey III, F. D. as treasurer;

FOREST LANDOWNERS ASSOCIATICN INC.

AF# 850

AF# 851

AF# 852

AF# 854

[ . L W o

AF# 855



Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
July 24, 2003

POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Sumner, Robert D. as treasurer;
GLASS, MOLDERS, POTTERY, PLASTICS &
ALLIED WORKERS INTERNATIONAL UNION -
POLITICAL ED LEAG, and JOSEPH
MITCHELL, SR. as treasurer;

GOOD GOVERNMENT FOR AMERICA PAC, and
Sadler, Frank Mr. as treasurer;
INDIANA DENTAL PAC, and RAYMOND M
MADDOX as treasurer;

MAGAZINE PUBLISHERS OF AMERICA PAC FKA
MAGAZINE PUBLISHES ASSOCIATION PAC,
and JAMES R CREGAN as treasurer;
MANTECH INTERNATIONAL CORP POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TERRY G MYERE as
treasgurer;

MARYLAND ASSOCIZTION FOR CONCERNED
CITIZENS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and MR JAMES BERG as treasurex;
FINZNCIAL SERVICE CENTERS OF AMERICA
INC., and Shyne, Henry F. as
treasurer;

NATIONAL HEALTH CORPORATION POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and KINNEY, J. B.
Jr. as treasurer;

NATIONAL PROPANE GAS ASSOCIATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
-PRCPANEPAC, and Roldan, Richard as
treasurer;

NEW JERSEY STATE CARPENTERS NON
PARTISAN POLITICAL EDUCATION
COMMITTEE, and Patricia Mueller as
treasurer;

SOCIETY OF THORACIC SURGECONS FOLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE; THE (STS PAC}, and
ROBFRT WILBUR as treasurer;

SQUTHERN STATES POLICE BENEVOLENT
ASS0OC PAC FUND, and JACK L ROBERTS as
trezsurer;

THRIVENT FINANCIAL FOR
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AF#
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AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#
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AF#

AF#

AF#

AEH
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Page

856

B57

859

864

865

B66

867

868

869

870

871

72

874
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LUTHERANS-EMPLOYEE POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and Marsha J. Mahan as
treasurer;

UNITED BROTHERHOOR OF
CARPENTERS/JOINERS OF AMER NEW ENGLAND
REG CARPENTERS LEGIS EMP CMTE, and
GLENN MARSHALL as treasurer;

UNITED STATES MARINE REPAIR INC
POLITICAL ACTICN COMMITTEE, and
Batson, Kenneth as treasurer;
VOLUNTEER PAC, and Dawn Perkerson as
treasurer;

WOMEN'S PRO-ISRAEL NATIONAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE ("WIN PAC"), and
JOYCE ULLMAN as treasurer;

DEMOCRATIC PARTY OF ORANGE COUNTY FED
PAC, and JAMES PANTONE as treasurer;
NEW YORK STATE CONSERVATIVE PARTY, and
GERARD KASSAR as treasurer;

B R A . L S

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

Page

876

877

878

880

881

882
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CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary for the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that on July
24, 2003, the Commission tock the following actiomns
on the Final Determination Recommendation For The
2002 12 Day Pre-General and 30 Day Post-General
Reports, as recommended in the Reports Analysis
Division's Memorandum dated July 17, 2003, on the

following committees:

AF# B39: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that COUNTRYWIDE CREDIT
INDUSTRIES INC PAC (COUNTRYWIDE PAC), and Sidney
Lenz as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Masomn,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 842: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF
PHYSTCIAN SPECIALIST INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and STEPHEN A MONTES as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434{a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# B843: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
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final determination that AMERICAN CENTURY CO INC
POLITICAL ACTION CMTE (AKA AMERICAN CENTURY
INVESTMENTS PAC), and WILLIAM B BATES as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# 845: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICAN SOCIETY OF
CATARACT & REFRACTIVE SURGERY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (AK2ZA EYEPAC) , and BERNARD J DELLARIO as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.L. 434{a) and assess the
civil money penalty sco indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 846: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that AMERICAN
SPEECH-LANGUAGE-HEARING ASSCOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and FREDERICK T SPAHR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and assese the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF# 848: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CABLEVISION SYSTEMS
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CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SHEILA
MAHONY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
agsess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
MecDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 850: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that CONGRESSIONAL BLACK CAUCUS
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (CBC-PAC), and Arthur R.
Collins as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 851: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DAVITA PAC, and Udicious,
Steven as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#f 852: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DEWEY BALLANTINE LLP
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Dowley, Joseph Mr.
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 854: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FLORIDA SUGAR CANE LEAGUE
PAC, and Yancey III, F. D. as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434{a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# B55: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FOREST LANDOWNERS
ASSOCIATION INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Sumner, Robert D. as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomwas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 856: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that GLASS, MOLDERS, POTTERY,
PLASTICS & ALLIED WORKERS INTERNATIONAL UNION -
POLITICAL ED LEAG, and JOSEPH MITCHELL, SR. as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# B57: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that GOOD GOVERNMENT FGR AMERICA
PAC, and Sadler, Frank Mr. as treasurer, violated 2
U.S8.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 859: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that INDIANA DENTAL PAC, and
RAYMOND M MADDOX as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 864: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MAGAZINE PUBLISHERS OF
AMERICA PAC FKA MAGAZINE PUBLISHES ASSOCIATION PAC,
and JAMES R CREGAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
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indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 865: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MANTECH INTERNATIONAL CORP
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTREE, and TERRY G MYERS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a} and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner., and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# BE6: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that MARYLAND ASSOCIATION FOR
CONCERNED CITIZENS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
MR JAMES BERG as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S8.C. 434 (a)
and asgegs the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissiocners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# B67: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that FINANCIAL SERVICE CENTERS
OF AMERICA INC., and Shyne, Henry F. as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AFH# B868: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NATIONAL HEALTH CORPORATION
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and KINNEY, J. B. Jr. as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# BG69: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a

final determination that NATIONAL PROPANE GAS
ASSOCIATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE -PROPANEPAC,
and Roldan, Richard as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, Mc¢Donald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 870: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NEW JERSEY STATE CARPENTERS
NON PARTISAN POLITICAL EDUCATION COMMITTEE, and
Patricia Mueller as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; {2} send the appropriate letter.
Commigssioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decisgion.

AF# 871: Decided by a vote of 6~0 to: (1} make a
final determination that SOCIETY OF THORACIC
SURGEONS POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE; THE (STS PAC),
and ROBERT WILBUR as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Conmissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFH B872: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that SOUTHERN STATES POLICE
BENEVOLENT ASSOC PAC FUND, and JACK L. ROBERTS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 874: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that THRIVENT FINANCIAL FOR
LUTHERANS-EMPLOYEE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Marsha J. Mahan as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
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434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissiconers Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 876: Decided by a vote of 6-0 te: (1) make a
final determination that UNITED BROTHERHOOD OF
CARPENTERS/JOINERS OF AMER NEW ENGLAND REG
CARPENTERS LEGIS EMP CMTE, and GLENN MARSHALL as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and assess the
civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH B77: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that UNITED STATES MARINE REPAIR
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Batson, Kenneth
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 878: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that VOLUNTEER PAC, and Dawn
Perkerson as treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Masomn,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF§# 880: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that WOMEN'S PRO-ISRAEL NATIONAL
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (“WIN PAC"), and JOYCE
ULLMAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
asgess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2}
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason,
McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 881l: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that DEMOCRATIC PARTY OF ORANGE
COUNTY FED PAC, and JAMES PANTONE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith,
Thomas, Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision.

AF§ 882: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that NEW YORK STATE CONSERVATIVE
PARTY, and GERARD KASSAR as treasurer, vioclated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas, Toner,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

-y

v 3 "//Z’zow ?ZL é Pt

Mary W. /Do
Secretdyy of the Commission
1




THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE
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